
Civic Centre, Windmill Street, Gravesend Kent DA12 1AU

Operational Services 
Cabinet Committee

Members of the Operational Services Cabinet Committee of Gravesham Borough Council are 
summoned to attend a meeting to be held at the Council Chamber, Civic Suite on Tuesday, 11 
February 2020 at 7.30 pm when the business specified in the following agenda is proposed to be 
transacted.

S Walsh
Service Manager (Communities)

Agenda

Part A
Items likely to be considered in Public

1. Apologies 

2. Minutes (Pages 3 - 6)

3. Declaration of Interest 

4. To consider whether any items in Part A of the agenda should be 
considered in private or any items in Part B in public 

5. Abandoned Vehicles Process (Pages 7 - 12)

6. Street Cleansing Update (Pages 13 - 18)

7. Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2019-20 (October - 
December) 

(Pages 19 - 30)

To present the Members of Operational Services Committee with an 
update against the Performance Management Framework, as introduced 
within the council’s Corporate Plan, for Quarter Three 2019-20 (October 
to December 2019).

8. Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements (Pages 31 - 44)



9. Any other business which by reason of special circumstances the Chair is 
of the opinion should be considered as a matter of urgency. 

10.Exclusion 
To move, if required, that pursuant to Section 100A (4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 that the public be excluded from any items 
included in Part B of the agenda because it is likely in view of the nature 
of the business to be transacted that if members of the public are present 
during those items, there would be disclosure to them of exempt 
information as defined in Part a of Schedule 12A of the Act.

Part B 
Items likely to be considered in Private

None.

Members

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)
Cllr Gurbax Singh (Vice-Chair)

Councillors: Conrad Broadley
John Caller
Emma Elliott
Gary Harding
Leslie Pearton
Peter Scollard
Steve Thompson
Frank Wardle

Substitutes: To be notified



1

Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Monday, 18 November 2019 7.30 pm

Present:

Cllr Lee Croxton (Chair)

Councillors: John Caller
Dakota Dibben
Diane Marsh
Leslie Pearton
Alan Ridgers
Steve Thompson
Frank Wardle

Stuart Bobby Director (Corporate Services)
Nick Brown Director (Housing and Operations)
Stuart Alford Assistant Director (Operations)
Ronald Helen Waste and Transport Manager
Joel Simons Waste Projects and Compliance Officer
Carlie Simmonds Committee Services Manager

14. Apologies 

Apologies for absence were received from Cllrs Conrad Broadley, Emma Elliott and Gurbax 
Singh. Cllrs Dakota Dibben and Diane Marsh attended as their substitutes. 

15. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 2 September 2019 were signed by the Chair.

16. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made.

17. Order of Agenda 

The Chair stated that he would deal with the agenda items in the following order:-
 

 7. Update on the Commercialisation of the Vehicle Workshop;
 6. Waste Management Team Project Proposals; and
 5. Operational Services Performance Update.

18. Update on the Commercialisation of the Vehicle Workshop 

The Committee was informed that given the financial pressures that had been placed on 
Councils in recent years there had been a drive for local authorities to consider the way in 

Page 3 Agenda Item 2



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 18.11.2019

2

which they operate and provide their services. This had resulted in Councils exploring other 
options for income generation such as the formation of trading entities to deliver Council 
services. There were a number of opportunities for the Council in terms of developing a 
Local Authority Trading Company (LATCo) and following an analysis of opportunities it had 
been identified that the trading of vehicle workshop services would be a viable use. The aim 
will be to have the company in operation from 1 April 2020.

The Waste and Transport Manager advised that the rollout of the vehicle workshop services 
would be undertaken in a phased approach as outlined in section 2.2 of the report. In order 
to deliver the services from the vehicle workshop, works will need to be undertaken to the 
depot as set out in section 2.4 of the report.

It will be the intention to use Gravesham Borough Council staff resources to provide these 
services to the private sector via the LATCo; the transferal of staff was not being considered 
at this stage.

A detailed project plan and risk assessment had been undertaken to ensure that all 
requirements will be identified and addressed prior to the company commencing trading on 1 
April 2020. 

The proposal for the formation of the LATCo parent company will be presented to the 
Cabinet on 2 December 2019 and Full Council on 17 December 2019. If adopted, this will 
set the framework for the Council in terms of moving forward with the subsidiary companies. 
The business case and financial business plan for the vehicle workshop subsidiary will then 
be presented to the Cabinet in the New Year.

Members considered the report and highlighted the following:-

 consideration needed to be given to customer safety when delivering services to the 
private sector from the depot; 

 a firm commitment needed to be obtained from Kent County Council (KCC) regarding 
the creation of a new vehicular access to the site via Thamesway;

 where feasible, the works to the depot as outlined in section 2.4 of the report should 
be undertaken sooner than the proposed timescales in particular the creation of an 
MOT lane and new vehicular access;

 analysis work should be undertaken to assess whether the trading entities will be 
financially successful. The Director (Corporate Services) advised that due to the 
significant decrease in the levels of government funding, the Service Review Team 
undertook an analysis of the services provided by the Council and whether there was 
a statutory duty to provide those services.  As part of the analysis, the Team also 
explored services which were provided by other local authorities and generating an 
income. Indicative modelling had been undertaken for the vehicle workshop 
subsidiary however the intention will be to finalise and present a business case and 
financial business plan to the Cabinet in the New Year; and

 Members asked what impact the LATCo/trading entities will have on local 
businesses. The Director (Housing & Operations) advised that there would be limited 
impact on local businesses in the short term and went on to stress the importance of 
the fact that the vehicle workshop would be operating within a competitive market 
with the aim of providing a good quality reliable service to customers to provide a 
new revenue stream for the Council.   

Page 4



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 18.11.2019

3

The Director (Corporate Services) advised that the proposed name of the LACTo had been 
determined, and would be registered with Companies House following the Full Council 
meeting, should approval be given.

The Committee noted the report. 

19. Waste Management Team Project Proposals 

The Chair introduced the Waste Projects and Compliance Officer, Joel Simons who had 
been in post since September 2019. A key objective of the post being to reduce littering and 
increase recycling through co-ordinating and delivering a number of projects, 
communications campaigns and service delivery trials within the Waste Management Team.

The Waste Projects and Compliance Officer apprised Members of the projects that were 
currently underway as set out in the report:-

 Anti-Littering Communications Campaign;
 The ‘Adopt a Street’ Initiative;
 Recycling Communications Campaign;
 Food Waste Recycling Collections from Flats Trial;
 Recycling at Gravesend Market;
 Re-Use Partnership Proposal; and
 Wallis Park Recycling and Cleanliness Project.

The Waste Projects and Compliance Officer advised that he had and will continue to work 
closely with a number of departments within the Council to successfully deliver these 
projects in particular the Communications and Digital Team. 

Members considered the report and highlighted the following:-

 consideration needed to be given to how the Council will communicate and engage 
with hard to reach groups for example where there is a language barrier;

 had a benchmarking exercise been undertaken with other local authorities on how 
they reduce littering and increase recycling; 

 there were currently a number of successful community initiatives within the Borough 
therefore it was important for the Waste Projects and Compliance Officer to work in 
partnership with those initiatives;

 it was requested that a brief summary be circulated to Members providing an update 
on the joint working initiative with the Community Payback Service and the proposed 
approach. The Assistant Director (Operations) advised that the Community Payback 
Service had recently removed the tree guards in and around the Town Centre; and

 consideration needed to be given to the food waste collections in the market ensuring 
that the wastage was not surplus food from the kitchens which could be redistributed.  

The Committee commended the projects and noted the report. 

20. Operational Services Performance Update 

Further to minute 5 (09.07.2019), the Assistant Director (Operations) provided Members with 
an update on Environmental Services projects as detailed in the report:-

Page 5



Operational Services Cabinet Committee 18.11.2019

4

 Bartec Software System;
 Town Centre Improvements;
 Pepperhill Closure;
 Recycling Improvements;
 Fly-tipping;
 Horticultural Services;
 Cemetery Services; and
 Vehicle Workshop.

Members considered the report and highlighted the following:-

 concern was expressed regarding KCC’s commitment of £250,000 to reduce the 
level of fly-tipping in Kent. It was felt that the amount was not substantial enough to 
assist with tackling fly-tipping in the whole of Kent; 

 it was requested that a report be submitted to the next meeting of the Committee on 
cemeteries and burial provision in the Borough; and 

 the figure in relation to the number of prosecutions and fixed penalty notices (FPNs) 
for fly-tipping should be separated in future reports. 

The Committee noted the report. 

Close of Meeting 

The meeting ended at 9.03pm

Page 6



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Tuesday 11 February 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)

Subject: Abandoned Vehicle Process

Purpose and summary of report: 
To provide Members with the process officers follow when dealing with vehicles which might 
be classified as abandoned.

Recommendations:
1. Information Only

1. Introduction

1.1 Abandoned vehicles have a negative effect on the quality of the local environment 
as they:

1.1.1 Attract vandalism and rubbish

1.1.2 Can be the result of crime

1.1.3 Can be the means to commit a crime

1.2 There are a number of common causes as to why people abandon vehicles, such 
as the following:

1.2.1 Vehicles no longer have the same scrap value as in the past, so owners 
must pay to have them taken away and scrapped

1.2.2 The fine for unlicensed and untaxed vehicles is often greater than their 
value, and so drivers simply abandon them

1.2.3 Vehicles used for crime are often abandoned once the crime has been 
committed

1.2.4 People return to their home country

1.3 Local authorities have a duty under Section 3 of the Refuse Disposal (Amenity) 
Act 1978, to remove a vehicle which is abandoned in their area, on any land in the 
open air, or on any other land forming part of a highway.

Page 7 Agenda Item 5



2

2. Abandoned Vehicle Process

2.1 Abandoned Vehicles are generally reported to the Council by the public either on 
the internet or via the telephone.

2.2 In 2019, 399 vehicles were reported to the Council as potentially abandoned.

2.3 For every abandoned vehicle report, an officer has to attend to determine whether 
the vehicle meets the Council’s abandonment criteria.  In many cases the vehicle 
that has been reported is not present when an officer visits.

2.4 To be classified as abandoned, a vehicle must meet three of the Council’s 
abandonment criteria which is taken from government guidance on abandoned 
vehicles.  The criteria includes the following;

2.4.1 Damage to lights or bodywork

2.4.2 Fire damage

2.4.3 Flat tyre(s) or missing wheels

2.4.4 Leaking fluid

2.4.5 Long standing (over 21 days)

2.4.6 Rubbish in vehicle

2.4.7 Vegetation in vehicles

2.4.8 Dangerous condition (ie sharp edges)

2.4.9 Unlocked

2.5 If the vehicle does not meet three of the above criteria then the vehicle will not be 
classed as abandoned.

2.6 If the vehicle does meet three of the above criteria then it will be classed as 
abandoned, an abandonment notice will be affixed to the vehicle and the keeper 
details requested from the DVLA.  There are three types of notices, these are;

2.6.1 1 day notice – Vehicle burnt out or in a dangerous condition

2.6.2 7 day notice – Abandoned vehicle on the public highway

2.6.3 15 day notice – Abandoned vehicle on private land.  We can only remove 
the vehicle if we have written permission from the land owner (Council land 
does not apply).

2.7 Once the notice has expired, if the vehicle has not been removed and/or the 
owner has not claimed the vehicle, then removal of the vehicle will be arranged.  
The removal of abandoned vehicles is arranged under a contract procured by 
Kent County Council as it is their legal duty to dispose of abandoned vehicles.

2.8 A flow chart of the abandoned vehicle process is shown in appendix 2.

Page 8



3

3. Other Options

3.1 Not all vehicles reported to the council fulfil the abandonment criteria.  There are 
other options for getting the vehicle removed such as;

3.1.1 Vehicle does not have a valid road tax or is SORN and parked on the 
public highway – The vehicle should be reported to the DVLA who have 
responsibility for the removal of untaxed vehicles

3.1.2 If the vehicle is parked on zig zag lines, dangerously parked or in a way 
that would prevent emergency vehicles from accessing, you can report this 
to the Kent Police.

4. BACKGROUND PAPERS

4.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 9



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Local authorities are under a duty under Section 3 of the Refuse Disposal (Amenity) 
Act 1978, to remove a vehicle which is abandoned in their area, on any land in the 
open air, or on any other land forming part of a highway

Finance and Value 
for Money 

There is not finanical impact as KCC have the legal duty to dispose of vehicles 
classed as abandoned

Risk Assessment If abandoned vehicles are not dealt with they can have a negative effect on the 
quality of the local environment  

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
     

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
NA

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Corporate Plan Objective 1 - People

Crime and Disorder The slow removal of abandoned vehicles can lead to other crimes such as vandlism

Digital and website 
implications

NA

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

NA

Page 10

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Abandoned Vehicle Process – Appendix 2

ABV reported via website or 
telephone

ABV inspection report raised

Inspector visits vehicle to check 
whether it meets abandonment 

criteria

Is the vehicle present and does it 
meet inspection criteria

Yes

Notice placed on 
vehicle

Keeper details requested 
from DVLA (24hrs)

Letter sent to 
registered owner

Notice expires - Has keeper claimed 
vehicle or vehicle moved?

Yes

Case Closed

No

Request to removal contractor 
to remove vehicle

Vehicle removed - Case 
Closed

No

Does the vehicle 
have valid road tax

Yes

Case Closed

No

Details  passed to 
DVLA

Is the vehicle in a 
dangerous position

Yes 

Pass to Police

No

Case Closed

P
age 11



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Cabinet Committee

Date: Tuesday 11 February 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)

Subject: Street Cleansing Update

Purpose and summary of report: 
To update Members on a number of successful inititatives carried out by the Waste 
Management Team to improve the cleanliness of the borough

Recommendations:
1. Information Only

1. Introduction

1.1 The Waste Management Team have been working hard to improve the 
cleanliness of the borough by targeting certain areas to improve cleanliness and 
reduce fly-tipping.

1.2 This report details a number of examples where positive action has been taken 
including

1.2.1 Reducing fly-tipping in St Marks Avenue

1.2.2 Deep clean of Pier Road river viewing platform

1.2.3 Removal of tree guards in Wellington Street area

1.2.4 Reduction in fly-tipping at Cascades and Morrison’s recycling sites

1.2.5 Issuing of fixed penalty notices in Snelling Avenue and Gwynn Road

2. Reducing fly-tipping in St Marks Avenue

2.1 In recent years there has been a problem with fly-tipping at the entrance to St 
Marks Avenue in Northfleet.  Every day there would be a huge pile of rubbish 
including black sacks which the street cleansing crew had to remove.

Page 13 Agenda Item 6



2

2.2 The below picture shows an example of the daily fly-tipping

2.3 In October 2019, action was taken to stop this fly-tipping.  Firstly wheelie bins 
were provided to the flats above the shops for them to store their waste between 
collections.  Letters were delivered to the flats and the houses in St Marks Avenue 
warning people of the penalties of leaving rubbish on the pavement in this area.

2.4 Following the letters and provision of wheeled bins, St Marks Avenue was visited 
every day and any rubbish was checked for evidence.  Although the majority of 
the rubbish dumping stopped immediately, there were still bags left every day.  
Evidence was obtained from the bags and warning letters sent to the offending 
properties in Beaumont Drive and Chestnut Close.

2.5 Following this intensive work by the Waste Management Team, the photo below 
shows the daily condition of St Marks Avenue

Page 14



3

3. Deep clean of Pier Road river viewing platform

3.1 There has been a problem at the bottom of Pier Road with accumulations of litter 
on a daily basis linked to anti-social behaviour.

3.2 To improve the local environment, in January 2020 the Waste Management Team 
undertook a deep clean of the viewing platform which overlooks the River Thames 
and adjacent parking area.

3.3 The photos below show the impact of the clean-up which received positive social 
media feedback on a number of Gravesend related social media pages.

Page 15



4

4. Removal of tree guards in Wellington Street area

4.1 In recent years there has been a problem with the dumping of black sacks in the 
Wellington Street area.  In 2018 the Waste Management team undertook a 
successful project which has seen the level of rubbish dumping drop dramatically.

4.2 To further improve the local environment and open up the traffic islands, a joint 
project was undertaken between the Waste Management Team and the Probation 
Service.    In November 2019 the Probation Service assisted in the removal of all 
the tree guards on the traffic islands, this led to an improvement in the look and 
feel of the roads.

4.3 This coincided with a deep clean of the area by the street cleansing team 
removing all the litter, weeds and detritus in the channels.

5. Reduction in fly-tipping at Cascades and Morrisons recycling sites

5.1 During 2018 it was established that there was an increase in fly-tipping at the 
recycling sites at Cascades Leisure Centre and Morrisons supermarket.  This fly-
tipping was particularly bad during the weekend which led to the sites being full of 
rubbish by a Monday morning and the street cleansing team having to spend 
hours cleaning the sites.

5.2 A number of actions were undertaken to deal with the problem which included;

5.2.1 Meeting with Cascades and Morrisons staff to discuss the problem

5.2.2 Installation of a mobile CCTV camera at Morrisons

5.2.3 New signage explaining what materials should be disposed of at the site 
and the penalties for fly-tipping

5.2.4 The repositioning of the recycling banks at the Morrisons site, so reducing 
the size of the site and making the banks more visible from the road.

5.2.5 Morrisons agreed to carry out work on reducing the size of the vegetation 
so the recycling site was more visible from the road.

5.2.6 Increased visits by the street cleansing team, initialling twice a day during 
weekdays and once a day at the weekend.  The aim was to keep the sites 

Page 16



5

clean so discouraging fly-tipping.  The street cleansing team now visit once 
a day.

5.2.7 New textiles collection contractor procured who empties the bins on a 
more regular basis and cleans up any excess textiles.

5.3 As with the other projects detailed above the measures put in place had an 
immediate positive effect with reduced fly-tipping and cleaner site.  Any rubbish 
left at the site was checked for evidence, this lead to a number of warning letters 
being sent to the culprits.  The below photo is of the Morrisons site.

6. Issuing of fixed penalty notices in Snelling Avenue and Gwynn Road

6.1 There is a problem nationally where people feel they can dump their rubbish 
where and when they want to.

6.2 Whilst the Waste Management Team has no dedicated enforcement resources 
they will where possible take enforcement action against people who feel dumping 
rubbish is acceptable.

6.3 At the end of 2019, there were two incidents of flytipping in Snelling Avenue and 
Gwynn Road, Northfleet where in both incidents people had taken rubbish out of 
the boot of their car and dumped it on the pavement.

6.4 In both incidents members of the public came forward with photos of the fly-tipping 
taking place including a clear view of the vehicle registration plate.  Both of the 
witnesses provided statements which allowed for the keeper details to be 
requested from the DVLA.

6.5 In both instances fly-tipping fixed penalty notices were issued to the owners of the 
vehicles.

6.6 The Communications Team have produced social media posts publicising the 
enforcement action.

7. BACKGROUND PAPERS

7.1 Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 17



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1
     

Legal Under the Environment Protection Act, the council has a duty to keep the streets 
clear of litter and remove fly-tipped waste.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

The actions dealed in this report have reduced fly-tipping in the these areas and 
improved street cleanliness.  If such action does not continue then the Council may 
have to invest more resources in the cleaning of the borough.

Risk Assessment If action is not taken to reduce the incidents of fly-tipping and the improvement to 
the cleanliness of the borough, then the residents and visitors will have a negative 
view on the borough

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
A definition of each type of data can be found on the Information 
Commissioner’s Office website via the above links.

b. If yes to question a, have you completed and attached a DPIA including Data 
Protection Officer advice?
No

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

c. If no to question b, please seek advice from your nominated DPIA assessor or 
the Information Governance Team at gdpr@medway.gov.uk.
NA

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
NA

Equality Impact 
Assessment

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate Plan Corporate Plan Objective 1 - People

Crime and Disorder NA

Digital and website 
implications

NA

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

NA

Page 18

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/
mailto:gdpr@medway.gov.uk


Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Committee

Date: 11 February 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford - Assistant Director (Operations)

Subject: Corporate Performance Update: Quarter Three 2019-20 

Purpose and summary of report: 
To present the Members of Operational Services Committee with an update against the 
Performance Management Framework, as introduced within the council’s Corporate Plan, for 
Quarter Three 2019-20 (October to December 2019).

Recommendations:
1. This report is for information purposes only.

1. Introduction

1.1 In October 2019 the council formally adopted its new Corporate Plan for 2019-23. 
The plan sets out the council’s ambition for the borough, complete with a suite of 
corporate objectives and supporting policy commitments that will shape the 
council’s activities over the four year period.  

1.2 In order to evaluate if the council is effectively achieving against its stated policy 
commitments, and is ultimately delivering consistently high quality services, the 
council need to have a sound performance management process in place. 
Developed by senior council officers and Cabinet portfolio holders, the council’s 
Corporate Plan presents a Performance Management Framework (PMF) that 
forms the basis of reporting corporate performance to council Members and 
residents. 

2. Performance management: process

2.1 The effective management of the council relies upon good quality and timely 
performance information on which to base informed executive decisions. 

2.2 Appendix Two to this report provides the Members of Operational Services 
Committee with a statistical overview of the council’s performance against the 
Corporate Plan for Quarter Three 2019-20, covering the period October to 
December 2019. 

Page 19 Agenda Item 7



2

2.3 Information on performance over the period is presented in tabular and graphical 
form for all indicators. Where any data is not presented, this will relate either to 
those indicators reported on an annual basis or, alternatively, where data has not 
been submitted in time for the presentation of the report. Any outturns where data 
has been unable to be reported will be presented within the next available 
reporting cycle.  

3. BACKGROUND PAPERS

 Gravesham Borough Council: Corporate Plan 2019-23. 

 Gravesham Borough Council: Performance Management Framework 
2019-23. 

Page 20



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

     

Legal The council’s Corporate Plan is an integral part of the authority’s policy framework 
as defined by the Constitution. The new Plan will ensure the council has in place an 
effective framework to delivery its responsibilities and delivers better results for 
vulnerable local residents, with the assistance of relevant partner agencies. 

Finance and 
Value for 
Money 

There are no significant costs associated with the monitoring of the council’s 
Corporate Plan from which council activities should be based and which 
therefore should be accounted for as part of on-going financial planning 
processes.

Risk 
Assessment

Implementation of a performance management framework allows the council to 
evidence how successful it is in achieving against its stated objectives and provides 
residents accountability in how successfully it is administering its resources.   
Screening for Equality ImpactsEquality 

Impact 
Assessment Question

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
N/A

In submitting this report, the Chief Officer doing so is confirming that they have 
given due regard to the equality impacts of the decision being considered, as noted 
in the table above

Corporate 
Plan

The council’s adopted Corporate Plan sets the strategic ambition and objectives for 
the authority over the 2019-23 period. This report provides Cabinet with a quarterly 
assessment of how the council is delivering against its objectives through its 
performance management framework.

Crime and 
Disorder

Community safety is an integral theme of the Corporate Plan and work by the 
council in this area, alongside its key partners, will go towards delivering corporate 
objective #1 People.

Digital and 
website 
implications

In terms of the council's performance management framework, digital 
implications are represented and assessed through the outturns relating to  
'PI 51: online self-help forms'.

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable 
adults

The council's work in safeguarding children and vulnerable adults helps contribute 
towards delivering corporate objectives #1 People and #2: Place.

Page 21



This page is intentionally left blank



Gravesham Borough Council - Corporate Plan 2019-23 00Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

O P E R A T I O N A L  S E R V I C E S
C O M M I T T E E

Performance    report 
Q  3  :  2  0  1  9  -  2  0

P
age 23



P I  3 Total number of reported Health & Safety incidents

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

11 3 4

P I  4 % of broadly compliant food establishments

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

93.0% 93.1% 94.2%

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Enforce high regulatory standards: put customer and employee safety first by ensuring 

commercial businesses and licence holders are fully compliant with expected legislative standards.

O U T T U R N

Licensing: This year has perhaps seen the highest frequency of Licensing Panel hearings to date. 

Related to this, on 29 November, the team took to the town centre and wider area for the night to both 

assist with the audit of the night-time economy, led by the Community Safety Unit (CSU), and take part 

in ‘Op Army’; a police-led multi-agency operation that focusses on licenced premises.  Only minor 

issues were found which have since been followed up and dealt with by officers. The Licensing Team’s 

digital development and online offerings have also not gone unnoticed, with a number of other councils 

up and down the country reaching out to us after hearing about our efficient and innovative processes.

Environmental Health: In Q3 we continued the annual programme of proactive food hygiene inspections 

and interventions required of us by the Food Standards Agency (FSA) aimed at both educating and 

enforcing.  

The PI 4 indicator of 'broadly compliant’ food establishments uses the Food Standards Agency 

definition. On inspection premises are scored under a number of headings which include: structure and 

cleanliness, food hygiene and safety procedures, and confidence in management. Only those premises 

which are scored as being 'satisfactory' (tightly defined by the FSA) under all headings can be classed 

as broadly compliant. The indicator outturn gives a snapshot of the standard of all food premises on our 

database at a given moment in time. Our Q3 value stands at 94% - above the most recent national 

average provided by the FSA of 90.2%. We find that the National Food Hygiene Rating Scheme 

('scores on the doors') gives a good incentive for proprietors to run their businesses well and implement 

good standards of food safety management.  Some 612 of the borough’s 645 food businesses have 

been awarded or 4 or 5, and none currently have a '0'.

Finally, the total number of reported health and safety incidents indicator is dependent upon business 

compliance with formally reporting accidents to the Health & Safety Executive (HSE) and members of 

the public, employers and employees reporting accidents/incidents to the Environmental Health 

department.  The four incidents logged in Q3 does not therefore directly reflect upon officer’s work 

performance, but does serve to give some indication as to how healthy and safe premises in 

Gravesham are.

O U T T U R N

0

5

10

15

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 24



Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

95.0% 98.0% 98.0%

Environmental Protection: The Environmental Protection team have a busy reactive workload to 

address allegations of nuisance and other service requests. Q3 has seen 200 incoming complaints 

logged. The largest category of nuisance complaint is that regarding noise. Most of these complaints 

are resolved informally, or nuisance is not substantiated. However in substantiated cases or where 

informal means have failed, formal notices are served.  

In terms of first response to ‘urgent’ complaints, our target of 24 hrs has continued to be met in 100% 

of instances in Q3. Equally, within Q3 98% of all ‘routine’ complaints received a first response five 

working days.  

During 2019/20, the team have duly sought to expand enforcement activity for noise etc. beyond the 

existing/previous model; making use of powers under the Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime & Policing Act 

2014  to serve Community Protection Warning and Notices in appropriate cases where statutory 

nuisance legislation could not have been used or would have taken a disproportionately long time.

Our air quality strategies are largely progressed via the planning process. The Environmental 

Protection Team respond to all relevant planning applications and also the officers play an active part in 

working groups relating to major developments.  

As part of Regulatory Services' ongoing development and digitisation, a new ‘connector’ module was 

bought in Q3 using existing budgets to allow the service to work towards the creation of online forms 

that will feature automation and safeguards, and input data directly into our back office ‘Uniform’ 

system, to provide a more simple, efficient and effective service for customers and officers alike, that 

customers will be able to access online at their convenience.  We have a proven track record of 

successful innovation in the licensing section of Regulatory Services, and now aim to expand this 

across the whole service area target.

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

O U T T U R N

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

P I  5
% of environmental health service requests receiving a first response within five 

working days 

2. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 

household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the 

borough.

Environmental Protection update - Mark Lees

85%

90%

95%

100%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 25



P I  9 Total volume of residual waste per household

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

108.0 212.7 320.0

P I  8 % of household waste recycled P I   10 % of household waste sent to landfill

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

44.3% 44.2% 42.0%

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3. Improve the local environment: deliver projects and initiatives to further increase levels of 

household recycling and actively address contaminated land and noise, flood and oil pollution in the 

borough.

Waste & Recycling update - Stuart Alford 

The waste management team are working on a number of projects to further increase levels of 

recycling.  The projects are; 

• Recycling Communications Campaign

• Dry Recycling in Flats including Wallis Park

• Food waste recycling collection from flats trial

• Reducing contamination and increasing quality of recycling

• Recycling at Council buildings including Gravesend Market

• Re-Use Partnership 

The outline project plans for each of these initiatives were presented to the Operational Services 

Cabinet Committee on 18 November 2019.

O U T T U R N

O U T T U R N O U T T U R N

Annual indicator Annual indicator 

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q4
2019 - 20

35%

40%

45%

50%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

100

200

300

400

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 26



P I  11 Average time taken to remove graffiti identified as GBC responsibility (days)

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

2

P I  12 % of areas with unacceptable levels of littering

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

5.0% 5.0% 5.0%

#1 PEOPLE 
a proud community; where residents can call a safe, clean 

and attractive borough their home.

P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

3.Create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive town centre: a 

comprehensive programme of street cleansing and high standard of horticultural maintenance. 

O U T T U R N

Work has been ongoing on improving the cleanliness of the town centre. The work so far has included:

• A review of town centre cleaning, enforcement and trialled different work practices;

• Extended working hours in the town centre to 6pm Monday to Friday and extended cover on 

Saturdays and Sundays in the town centre.  Changes had also been made within the operational 

processes to facilitate the more frequent emptying of the litter bins within the town centre;

• Expanded the patrol area of Safer Place Officers to outside the Town Centre;

 

• New equipment has been tested to increase the efficiency of the clean-up service; a weed removal 

machine has been procured which will help in removing weeds and moss at targeted locations across 

the borough;

 

• A street cleaning machine has been demonstrated; it will clean the pavement removing grime and 

chewing gum.   The option of using an external contractor to carry out the cleaning and chewing gum 

removal has been explored but in the long term, having our own machine will allow more areas to be 

cleaned on a more frequent basis; 

• Other equipment is being investigated to improve the clean-up services around the Borough including 

the addition of vehicles with tail lifts to assist in removing large amounts of fly-tipping; and

• The re-development of the borough's play sites has continued with the sites at Durndale, Central 

Avenue and Waterton Avenue being refurbished.

O U T T U R N

N/A

0

1

2

3

Q3
2019 - 20

0%

2%

4%

6%

Q1
2019 - 20

Q2
2019 - 20

Q3
2019 - 20

P
age 27



P I   39 % of council play sites annually inspected

Q1

2019 - 20

Q2

2019 - 20

Q3

2019 - 20

Q4

2019 - 20

Q1

2020 - 21

Q2

2020 - 21

Q3

2020 - 21

Q4

2020 - 21

#2 PLACE P O L I C Y   C O M M I T M E N T 

1. Improve resident well-being: provide and preserve a suite of high quality play areas and promote 

opportunities for active lives.

a dynamic borough; defined by a vibrant and productive local economy taking 
advantage of growth in the area, supported by its strong and active community.

O U T T U R N

The re-development of the borough's play sites has continued with the sites at Durndale, Central 

Avenue and Waterton Avenue being refurbished.

Work is being undertaken with the EDC to expand tree planting and wildflower areas within the 

Northfleet including tree planting at Rosherville Recreation Ground and Wildflower trails at Northfleet 

Urban Country Park. Annual indicator Annual indicator 

40%

60%

80%

100%

Q4
2019 - 20

P
age 28



Delivering a Gravesham to be proud of

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Public
Key Decision: No

Gravesham Borough Council

Report to: Operational Services Committee 

Date: 11th February 2020

Reporting officer: Stuart Alford – Assistant Director Operations

Subject: Corporate Partnership Register 2020

Purpose and summary of report: 
To inform members of the Operational Services Committee of the council’s involvement in 
partnerships that are within the remit of the committee. 

Recommendations:
1. This paper is for information purposes only 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The council is increasingly working in partnership with local organisations, groups, 
other public, private and ‘third sector’ bodies to achieve its objectives for the local 
community. Partnership working can add many benefits to the delivery of services 
by enabling the council to develop better understanding of the needs of the public 
through shared perspectives. This, in turn, can result in the avoidance of 
duplication, sharing of skills, knowledge and data, securing of additional 
resources, improved service delivery to the customer and improved customer 
satisfaction

1.2 The council has a Corporate Register of Partnerships which provides a central 
record of partnerships in which the council is involved. The register is available on 
the council website and is reviewed and updated on an annual basis; the last 
review took place in April 2019.

1.3 This year reflects the new administration and updated objectives and how the 
partnerships support the new Corporate Plan. 

2. Operational Services Committee

2.1 The current partnerships that most directly relate to the work of the Operational 
Services Committee are as follows: 

2.1.1 Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership 

2.1.2 Kent Resource Partnership

Page 31 Agenda Item 8



2

2.2 More detailed information regarding the partnerships overleaf is shown at 
appendix two to enable the committee to develop an understanding of these 
partnerships and the contribution they make to delivering services to the 
community. 

3. Background Papers

3.1 Background papers pertaining to this report are as follows:

 Working in Partnership Framework – April 2016

 Corporate Register of Partnerships – April 2019

Anyone wishing to inspect background papers should, in the first place, be 
directed to Committee & Electoral Services who will make the necessary 
arrangements.

Page 32



IMPLICATIONS APPENDIX 1

Legal There are no legal implications resulting from this report.  

As a requirement of the council’s Working in Partnership Framework, all potential 
partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements are formally 
considered by the Monitoring Officer to ensure that the legal aspects of proposals 
are taken into account prior to entering into a new arrangement.

Finance and Value 
for Money 

Partnerships and shared working arrangements can present financial and value for 
money savings to the council. The council’s Working in Partnership Framework 
requires all potential partnership opportunities and shared working arrangements to 
be formally considered by the Section 151 Officer to ensure that the financial 
aspects of all proposals are taken into account prior to entering into a new 
partnership.

Risk Assessment Partnership working is becoming more and more prevalent in the work of the 
council and is a key factor in the efficient and effective delivery of services and 
corporate objectives. It is therefore important that the council maintains 
comprehensive information regarding the partnerships it is involved in to enable 
effective consideration of partnership working arrangements as a contribution to the 
achievement of corporate objectives

A data protection impact assessment (DPIA) should be carried out at the start of 
any major project involving the use of personal data or if you are making a 
significant change to an existing process. 

Data Protection 
Impact Assessment

a. Does the project/change being recommended through this paper involve the 
processing of personal data or special category data or criminal offence data? 
No 

a. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper have 
potential to cause adverse impact or discriminate against different groups in the 
community? If yes, please explain answer.
No

b. Does the decision being made or recommended through this paper make a 
positive contribution to promoting equality? If yes, please explain answer.
No 

Equality Impact 
Assessment

Corporate Plan Partnership and shared working arrangements will contribute to all of the Corporate 
Plan objectives in particular, #3 Progress by being an entrepreneurial authority 
looking at ways to be successful in managing an ever-increasing demand for our 
services and customer expectations on the quality we provide. 

Crime and Disorder The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Community Safety Partnership and G-Safe.

Digital and website 
implications

There are no direct digital and website implications with this report. 

Safeguarding 
children and 
vulnerable adults

The full Corporate Register of Partnerships includes information regarding the 
Children's Boards that are in operation across the council.

Page 33

https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/key-definitions/what-is-personal-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/special-category-data/
https://ico.org.uk/for-organisations/guide-to-the-general-data-protection-regulation-gdpr/lawful-basis-for-processing/criminal-offence-data/


This page is intentionally left blank



GRAVESHAM BOROUGH COUNCIL

Corporate Register of 
Partnerships and Shared 
Working Arrangements

December 2019

A summary of partnership and shared working 
arrangements 

Operational Services 

Page 35



Gravesham Borough Council        - 2 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Introduction
The council maintains a comprehensive register of its partnerships and shared working arrangement that is 
reviewed on an annual basis.  

Partnerships
The council defines a partnership as “an agreement between the Council and one or more independent 
bodies to work together to achieve one or more objectives”.

In addition to this, the council also splits the partnership register into ‘Significant’ and ‘Key other partnerships’.  
In order for a partnership to be classified as significant it must meet the following definition:

“a partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £10,000 or greater or one that is 
fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective within the council’s Corporate Plan.  Without this 
effective partnership therefore, the delivery of Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals 
would not occur.”

The council is currently involved in the following partnerships:

Page Ref. Name of Partnership Significant
Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership
Kent Resource Partnership 

Glossary of Terms (Page 7)
Throughout the document, there are a number of terms that are used and it was felt that it would be useful to 
provide a ‘Glossary of Terms’ in order to provide further clarification of some of the terminology used within the 
document.

Page 36



Gravesham Borough Council        - 3 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Name of Partnership Kent and Medway Air Quality Partnership

Responsible Officer Elizabeth Thornton, Service Manager Property & Regulatory

Lead Member(s) Councillor Lee Croxton, Lead Member for Operational Services

Statutory Status Non-statutory Partnership (Department for the Environment, Food and Rural 
Affairs (DEFRA) recognised good practice)

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

The major aims and objectives of the Partnership are:
 Facilitate a co-ordinated approach through Kent and Medway for the 

Local Air Quality Management (LAQM) obligations placed on local 
authorities under the Environment Act 1995;

 Compile, update and maintain an Emissions Inventory of air pollution 
sources in and around Kent, to assist with the LAQM process;  

 Comment on and influence the economic, planning and transport 
policies within the county so that air quality issues are properly 
considered and addressed;

 Gain an understanding of the health implications associated with poor air 
quality and the threat it poses to the health of Kent and Medway’s 
communities;

 To promote an awareness of air quality issues by working with national 
agencies, neighbouring authorities, and European partners and to 
participate in joint initiatives to further the knowledge and understanding 
of air quality issues; and  

 Liaise with DEFRA and Government bodies to assist with the 
implementation of the National Air Quality Strategy.

Expected outcomes Continued partnership working across Kent working closely with public 
health colleagues at Medway Council and Kent County Council.
The Partnership is working with Kent Public Health to deliver an Awareness 
raising campaign around the links between air quality and health. Material 
for a number of key groups, i.e. professionals/decision makers, business, the 
general public, children/parents is being developed. This has included a 
toolkit for schools linked to the national curriculum. It has been completed 
and is available for wider use.
Opportunities for reduced costs and efficiency gains through joint 
procurement –such as is currently in place for the Kent and Medway Air 
Quality Monitoring Network and Local Air Quality Management Reports 
(LAQM)
Opportunities to participate in external funding bids.
Dissemination of knowledge and good practice.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective #1 People 
 carbon neutral borough
 improve the local environment
Corporate Objective #2 Place
 positively promote sustainable development
 improve resident well-being

GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets 
etc)

Six days per year. 
No financial implications of the Partnership itself; however Gravesham 
currently pays £2809.10 +VAT per annum as part of the jointly procured 
contract for the Kent and Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network.

Page 37



Gravesham Borough Council        - 4 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Partnership membership All local authorities in Kent, Environment Agency, King’s College London, 

Health Authority, Highways Agency, Kent County Council, Kent Highways, 
KCC Public Health.

Governance arrangements The Kent & Medway Air Quality Partnership is an officer group reporting to 
the Kent Environmental Health Managers Group. As such only minimal 
governance arrangements are in place relating to terms of reference and 
frequency of meetings. Minutes are taken from the meetings and reported to 
all partners.  These are not published in the public domain as this has not 
been considered necessary in the past however they are available to the 
public on request.  

Financial reporting 
arrangements and 
timeframe for reporting

Kent & Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network contract awarded in 2017 
and financially monitored by Swale Council. Previous to this Medway have 
been the procurement authority.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

An officer from Gravesham BC is included in the Kent and Medway Air 
Quality Monitoring Network Contract Group which monitors the contract and 
the performance of the contractor. 
The AQ Partnership will continue indefinitely.  
The Monitoring Network will continue as long as it is supported by members 
at the time of contract renewal.  At the current time all Kent authorities 
(except Dartford and Sevenoaks who are in the London network) are 
committed to a minimum of a three year data management contract for their 
monitoring stations.  
The aims and objectives are currently under review to ensure they include 
our public health responsibilities. 

Risk Assessment It is not a statutory duty to be a member of the Partnership however it is 
recognised by DEFRA as an example of good practice which assists in 
ensuring consistency across the county. 
It is however a statutory duty to have air quality monitoring data managed 
and collated and disseminated to the public.  
The Kent & Medway Air Quality Monitoring Network contract includes this for 
all members.  Dissemination to member, the public, developers and 
consultants is by the www.kentair.org.uk website.  

Safeguarding Obligations N/A

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

Partnership created in 
1992

Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

Significant partnership  Other partnership

Page 38

http://www.kentair.org.uk/


Gravesham Borough Council        - 5 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Name of Partnership Kent Resource Partnership (KRP) Members Board

Responsible Officer Stuart Alford, Assistant Director (Operations)

Lead Member(s) Councillor Lee Croxton, Lead Member for Operational Services

Statutory Status Non-statutory partnership

Aims and objectives of 
partnership

To deliver the objectives of the Kent Waste Strategy: 
1. Maximising the Value of Resources

a. To recycle at least 50% across Kent by 2020/21.
b. To reduce residual waste collected across Kent.
c. No more than 2% of Kent’s waste to go to landfill.
d. Joint approach to use of third sector & charities to deliver 

reuse of bulky waste.
e. Explore the possibility of implementing recycling on the go.

2. Value for Money for Kent Taxpayers
a. Develop a joint approach to tackle litter and flytipping.  

Working with appropriate partners such as Highways England.
b. Sharing resources and providing joint communication 

campaigns for recycling, littering and flytipping.
c. Joint working to deliver first class health & safety standards 

across the county.
3. Engagement, Collaboration and Partnership Working

a. Maximise engagement with national and local government and 
those operating across the supply chain.

b. Produce an annual report that reflects the focus and priorities 
of the previous year.

c. The partnership’s strategy to be fully reviewed in 2021/22.
4. Future Thinking

a. Aligning with key policies such as EU circular economy 
package, environment plan and imminent resource and waste 
strategy.

b. Developing other metrics and means to focus on quality and 
value of resources.

c. Consider requirements to secure infrastructure to enhance 
and develop the local resource management and waste 
facilities.

d. Look at the development of a consistent collection 
specification across all councils.

Expected outcomes The expected outcomes of the partnership are:
 To strengthen co-operation and joint-working across the council’s in 

the partnership; and
 An increased awareness across the county of waste and recycling 

service including waste minimisation.

Links to GBC Corporate 
Objectives

Corporate Objective: #1 People 
 actively enforce environmental standards 
 improve the local environment with carbon neutral initiatives
 create clean, welcoming neighbourhoods and parks, and an attractive 

town centre

Page 39



Gravesham Borough Council        - 6 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
GBC Resources
(financial, officer, assets etc)

 A budget of £305,750 is available for the Kent Resource Partnership in 
2019-20.  Gravesham Borough Council contributes £5,000 per year 
towards this overall budget.

 Officer and Member time from the Cabinet Portfolio Holder(s) and 
Director or Assistant Director.

Partnership membership All local authorities in Kent

Governance arrangements The Kent Resource Partnership has an Operating Framework in place.  
The framework sets out the governance arrangements for the partnership 
as a whole including (but not limited to):
 Setting the scope of works for the partnership around three key areas; 

waste collection and waste disposal functions, street cleansing 
functions and environmental enforcement functions;

 Setting out the strategic structure within which the Kent Resource 
partnership operates;

 Providing details of the specific governance of the Members Board; 
frequency of meetings, agenda arrangements, quorum details, chair 
and vice-chair selection, decision making process etc;

 Providing details of the Officers Advisory Group and the Operational 
Review & Improvement Group in a similar fashion to the Members 
Board above; and

 Details of the resources available to the partnership along with the 
expected contribution from partner organisations.

Financial reporting 
arrangements and timeframe 
for reporting

The Kent Resource Partnership agrees a Budget Plan and a Delivery Plan 
on an annual basis.
Kent Resource Partnership Members Board is provided financial updates 
three times a year when it meets.

Performance monitoring 
arrangements and details of 
formal review of partnership 
arrangements.

Partnership is reviewed annually.  Performance information is reported 
every quarter.

Risk Assessment --

Safeguarding Obligations N/A

Date Partnership 
Created / Approved 
by Cabinet

12 March 2007 Date Partnership 
Terminates
(if applicable)

N/A

 Significant partnership Other partnership

Page 40



Gravesham Borough Council        - 7 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019

Glossary of Terms
To provide assistance to officers, Members and members of the public when reading the council’s 
Corporate Register of Partnerships, a Glossary of Terms has been developed to provide additional 
information about the meaning of some of the words included within the register.

Term Used Meaning

Annual Governance 
Review

This is a review that is undertaken each year in order to assess the council’s overall 
governance arrangements.

Annual Report A comprehensive report on an organisations activities over the past year, intended 
to give shareholders and other interested people information about the 
organisation’s activities and financial performance.

BEIS Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy - the UK Government 
department responsible for business, industrial strategy, science, innovation, 
energy, and climate change

Business Continuity 
Plan

A plan that sets out how an organisation will respond and manage business 
disruption in case of unforeseen events.

Business Plan A business plan is a formal statement of a set of business goals, the reasons they 
are believed attainable, and the plan for reaching those goals.

Climate Change Act 
2008

The Climate Change Act 2008 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which aims to 
enable the United Kingdom to become a low-carbon economy and gives ministers 
powers to introduce the measures necessary to achieve a range of greenhouse gas 
reduction targets.

Code of Practice Written guidelines issued by the partnership to its members to help them comply 
with the standards expected of the partnership.

Company Limited by 
Guarantee

An alternative type of corporation used primarily for non-profit organisations that 
require a legal framework.  

Constitution A document which sets out the fundamental rules governing the conduct of the 
partnership.  It may also include details of the concept and structure of the 
partnership.

Corporate Plan A document which sets out Gravesham Borough Council’s corporate priorities for a 
period of years and provides details of the actions to be undertaken towards 
achieving those objectives.

CROW Act The Countryside and Rights of Way Act 2000 normally gives a public right of access 
to land mapped as 'open country' (mountain, moor, heath and down) or registered 
common land. These areas are known as 'open access land'.

DCLG Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) - the UK Government 
department responsible for setting policy on supporting local government; 
communities and neighbourhoods; regeneration; housing; planning, building and the 
environment; and fire.

DEFRA Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs (DEFRA) – the UK government 
department responsible for policy and regulations on environmental, food and rural 
issues.

EHO Environmental Health Officer

Page 41



Gravesham Borough Council        - 8 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

Emissions Inventory An emission inventory is an account of the amount of pollutants discharged into the 
atmosphere within the area.  

Energy Act 2011 The Energy Act 2011 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament setting out three key 
principles: tackling barriers to investment in energy efficiency; enhancing energy 
security; and enabling investment in low carbon energy supplies.

Energy Company 
Obligation

The Energy Company Obligation (ECO) is a government energy efficiency scheme 
in Great Britain to help reduce carbon emissions and tackle fuel poverty.

Energy Saving Trust The Energy Saving Trust is the UK's leading impartial organisation helping people 
save energy and reduce carbon emissions by providing free, impartial advice and 
information to help people across the UK to find the best ways to save energy, 
conserve water and reduce waste.

Environment Act 
1995

The Environment Act 1995 is a United Kingdom Act of Parliament which created a 
number of new agencies and set new standards for environmental management.

FTE Full-time Equivalent (FTE) – the number of full-time equivalent staff that are working 
in the partnership.

Health & Social Care 
Act 2012

The Health and Social Care Act 2012 (c 7) is an Act of the Parliament of the United 
Kingdom and sets out the reorganisation of the NHS in the UK.

Home Office The Homes Office is the lead government department for immigration, passports, 
counter-terrorism, policing, drugs and crime.

ICO Information Commissioner’s Office

ICT Information Communications Technology (ICT).

Kent Waste Strategy A sustainable household waste management strategy that sets out how the Kent 
Waste Partnership will manage Kent’s waste over the next 20 years (Strategy 
approved in 2007).

Local Government 
Act 1972

An Act of Parliament in the United Kingdom that makes provision with respect to 
local government and the functions of local authorities in England and Wales.

Local Government 
Act 2000

An Act to make provision with respect to the functions and procedures of local 
authorities and provision with respect to local authority elections; to make provision 
with respect to grants and housing benefit in respect of certain welfare services; to 
amend section 29 of the Children Act 1989; and for connected purposes.

Localism Act 2011 An Act to make provision about the functions and procedures of local and certain 
other authorities; to enable the recovery of financial sanctions imposed by the Court 
of Justice of the European Union on the United Kingdom from local and public 
authorities; to make provision about local government finance; to make provision 
about town and country planning, the Community Infrastructure Levy and the 
authorisation of nationally significant infrastructure projects; to make provision about 
social and other housing; and for other connected purposes.

Memorandum of 
Understanding/ 
Agreement (MOU) 

A written document describing the roles and responsibilities of two (or more) parties 
on a particular venture.  An MOU is less formal than a contract, but is often signed 
by the parties involved to indicate their agreement to the principles contained in the 
MOU.  A MOU is sometimes a precursor to a formal agreement.

NACAB National Association of Citizens' Advice Bureaux

Page 42

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2012/7/contents
https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Act_of_Parliament
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Act_of_Parliament
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Community_Infrastructure_Levy


Gravesham Borough Council        - 9 -
Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
– December 2019
Term Used Meaning

National Air Quality 
Strategy

The National Air Quality Strategy (NAQS) was established as part of the UK 
Government’s 1995 Strategic Policy for Air Quality Management. It uses health 
based standards as a framework to control the levels of seven designated air 
pollutants of seven air pollutants that are known to have adverse health effects.

Partnership 
Agreement

An agreement between the relevant partners setting out how the partnership will 
operate and the commitment each will make to the partnership.

Service Level 
Agreement (SLA)

A document which is agreed between the partners and records a common 
understanding about services, priorities and responsibilities and clearly defines the 
"level of service" expected through targets etc.

Shared Service 
Agreement

This is a document which is signed by those authorities participating in a share 
service and sets out the governance arrangements fort the shared service.

Significant 
partnership

A partnership for which there is a council resource provision of £10,000 or greater or 
one that is fundamental to the delivery of a corporate objective within the council’s 
Corporate Plan.  Without this effective partnership therefore, the delivery of 
Gravesham Borough Council’s key corporate goals would not occur.

SMEs Small and Medium Enterprise – a small or medium sized independent business that 
is managed by its owner or part-owners and has a small market share.

Steering Group A steering group is a group of senior officers/partners who oversee the delivery of a 
project or partnership initiative.

Terms of Reference A document which describes the purpose and structure of a partnership along with 
basis for making future decisions and for confirming or developing a common 
understanding of the scope among stakeholders.

Unilateral Agreement An agreement in which one party makes a promise, but the other side does not 
promise anything.  Examples of these are offering rewards for the return of lost 
property.

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	Minutes

	5 Abandoned Vehicles Process
	abandoned vehicles process - Appendix 2

	6 Street Cleansing Update
	7 Corporate Performance Update – Quarter Three 2019-20 (October - December)
	2. Appendix 2 - Operational Services Portfolio - Q3 2019-20.pdf

	8 Corporate Register of Partnerships and Shared Working Arrangements
	2. Corporate Register of Partnerships  - Extract December 2019




